
 
 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 
 

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 
 
Illinois Commerce Commission 
     On Its Own Motion 
          -vs- 
Central Illinois Light Company 
  d/b/a AmerenCILCO 
 
Citation for alleged violation of 
Commission rules regarding fusion 
process. 
 
Illinois Commerce Commission 
     On Its Own Motion 
          -vs- 
Central Illinois Public Service Company 
  d/b/a AmerenCIPS 
 
Citation for alleged violation of 
Commission rules regarding fusion 
process. 
 
Illinois Commerce Commission 
     On Its Own Motion 
          -vs- 
Illinois Power Company 
  d/b/a AmerenIP 
 
Citation for alleged violation of 
Commission rules regarding fusion 
process. 
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(Cons.) 

 
ORDER 

 
By the Commission: 
 
I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 
 
 On June 23, 2010, the Illinois Commerce Commission (“Commission” or "ICC") 
entered an Order commencing Docket Nos. 10-0399 through 10-0401 under Section 7 
of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act (the “Pipeline Safety Act”), 220 ILCS 20/7, to 
determine whether Central Illinois Light Company d/b/a AmerenCILCO, Central Illinois 
Public Service Company d/b/a AmerenCIPS, and Illinois Power Company d/b/a 
AmerenIP, n/k/a Ameren Illinois Company d/b/a Ameren Illinois (collectively referred to 
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as "Ameren Illinois Company" or "Ameren Illinois") had failed to comply with the plastic 
pipe fusion requalification requirements at 49 CFR § 192.285 and whether civil penalties 
should be imposed pursuant to Section 7 of the Pipeline Safety Act. 
 
 Appearances were entered by counsel on behalf of Ameren Illinois Company and 
the Staff of the Commission (“Staff”). 
 
 Pursuant to notice as required by law and the rules and regulations of the 
Commission, this matter came on for hearing by a duly authorized Administrative Law 
Judge of the Commission at its offices in Springfield, Illinois, on July 15, 2010.  At that 
time, a schedule was set for the filing of Staff testimony and a status hearing. 
 
 On September 9, 2010, Staff filed the Direct Testimony of Darin Burk (ICC Staff 
Exhibit 1.0). 
 
 Pursuant to proper legal notice, on January 12, 2011, an evidentiary hearing was 
held before a duly authorized Administrative Law Judge of the Commission at its offices 
in Springfield, Illinois. 
 
 On January 21, 2011, the Parties to this proceeding filed a Joint Motion for Entry 
of Order (“Joint Motion”) setting forth the terms of a settlement agreement unanimously 
reached by the Parties, a stipulation signed by counsel for each of the Parties, and an 
Agreed Draft Order.  Staff recommends that the Commission consider the Stipulation 
and that the Commission enter a Final Order in substantially the form of the Agreed 
Draft Order proposed by the Parties. 
 
II. APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARDS 

 
The United States Department of Transportation has promulgated a rule, which 

the Commission has adopted by reference (83 Ill. Adm. Code Part 590).  That rule 
reads in part: 

 
 Sec. 192.285 Plastic pipe: Qualifying persons to make joints 
 
(a) No person may make a plastic pipe joint unless that person has been 
qualified under the applicable joining procedure by: 
 (1) Appropriate training or experience in the use of the procedure; 

and  
 (2) Making a specimen joint from pipe sections joined according to 

the procedure that passes the inspection and test set forth in 
paragraph (b) of this section. 

(b) The specimen joint must be: 
 (1) Visually examined during and after assembly or joining and 

found to have the same appearance as a joint or photographs of a 
joint that is acceptable under the procedure; and  

 (2) In the case of a heat fusion, solvent cement, or adhesive joint:  
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 (i) Tested under any one of the test methods listed under § 
192.283(a) applicable to the type of joint and material being tested;  

 (ii) Examined by ultrasonic inspection and found not to contain 
flaws that would cause failure; or  

 (iii) Cut into at least 3 longitudinal straps, each of which is:  
 (A) Visually examined and found not to contain voids or 

discontinuities on the cut surfaces of the joint area; and  
 (B) Deformed by bending, torque, or impact, and if failure 

occurs, it must not initiate in the joint area. 
 

 Under Section 3 of the Pipeline Safety Act (220 ILCS 20/3), the Commission is 
required to:  
 

adopt rules establishing minimum safety standards for the transportation 
of gas and for pipeline facilities. Such rules shall be at least as inclusive, 
as stringent, and compatible with, the minimum safety standards adopted 
by the Secretary of Transportation under the Federal Act. 
 
The Commission incorporated by reference the applicable federal rules at 83 Ill. 

Adm. Code 590, “Minimum Safety Standards for Transportation of Gas and for Gas 
Pipeline Facilities” (“Part 590”). 

 
Section 7(a) of the Pipeline Safety Act makes local gas distribution companies 

subject to a civil penalty for violations of § 6(a) of the Pipeline Safety Act.  Section 
6(a)(1) requires compliance with safety standards.  The amount of the civil penalty is 
$100,000 per violation capped at $1 million for a related series of violations.  49 U.S.C 
60122(a)(1); 220 ILCS 20/7(a). 

 
Section 7(b) of the Pipeline Safety Act describes the criteria that the Commission 

must consider in determining whether to assess a civil penalty for a violation of the 
Pipeline Safety Act.  This section, in relevant part, states: “the Commission shall 
consider the appropriateness of the penalty to the size of the business of the person 
charged, the gravity of the violation, and the good faith of the person charged in 
attempting to achieve compliance, after notification of a violation.”  220 ILCS 20/7(b). 

 
III. RECORD EVIDENCE 

 
On September 9, 2010, Staff filed the Direct Testimony of Darin Burk, Pipeline 

Safety Program Manager in the Pipeline Safety Program of the Energy Division. 
 
Mr. Burk’s testimony was admitted into evidence as ICC Staff Ex. 1.0 and made 

a part of the record in this docket for purposes of supporting the settlement.  Ameren 
Illinois Company stated that it does not contest that Mr. Burk’s testimony is sufficient to 
support the Stipulation, though reserving judgment on all other statements and positions 
set forth therein. 
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According to Mr. Burk’s testimony, records produced by Ameren Illinois Company 
to Staff during a February 2010 audit revealed that Ameren Illinois Company was using 
simulated fusion as the test method for some requalifications.  A Notice of Probable 
Violation was sent to Ameren Illinois Company explaining Staff’s position that Ameren 
Illinois Company’s requalification methods violated 49 CFR § 192.285. 

 
In a letter to Darin Burk dated March 12, 2010, Ameren Illinois Company 

responded to Staff’s letter.  Ameren Illinois Company explained that it had been testing 
and qualifying employees on electrofusion for joining plastic pipe with an alternative 
process for approximately the past six years and that it believed the alternative process 
was acceptable to the ICC based on verbal conversations before 2004 with the acting 
ICC Manager of Pipeline Safety as well as prior audit results.  Ameren Illinois Company 
also stated that after receiving the Notice of Probable Violation, it immediately took 
steps to address Staff’s concerns and required each qualified employee to submit 
electrofusion specimens for further evaluation and testing as required by § 192.285. 
 
IV. SETTLEMENT TERMS 

 
As disclosed by the Parties’ Joint Motion and Staff’s Response, the Parties 

engaged in negotiations to reach a settlement of this proceeding.  As a result of these 
negotiations, the Parties reached terms of a settlement to which they unanimously 
agree. 

 
The settlement does not result in an admission by Ameren Illinois Company that 

the use of the simulation process for requalification violates 49 CFR § 192.285.  
However, upon receipt of the Notice of Probable Violation, Ameren Illinois Company 
took immediate steps to address Staff’s concerns about the requalification process and 
in the stipulation Ameren Illinois Company agrees to a process to address Staff’s 
concerns about the potential for failure of improperly joined polyethylene pipe by 
electrofusion. 

 
Staff recommends that the Commission consider the Stipulation and enter a final 

order approving the terms of the settlement set forth in the Stipulation. 
 
The terms of the settlement are set forth in a Stipulation, signed by each Party.  

A copy of the Stipulation is attached as and Appendix to this Order.  Pursuant to the 
Stipulation, the terms of the settlement are as follows: 

 
A. Ameren Illinois Company will pay a penalty under § 7 of the Pipeline 

Safety Act, 220 ILCS 20/7, of Six Hundred Thousand (“$600,000.00”) 
Dollars.  This aggregate amount represents the penalty for each of the 
violations by each of the utilities for the period in question. 

 
B. In response to Staff’s concern about the potential for failure of improperly 

joined polyethylene pipe by electrofusion, Ameren Illinois Company 
agrees to the following: 



 
10-0399/10-0400/10-0401 (Cons.) 

5 
 

 
1. Annual leak surveys shall be conducted in 2011-2015 of all 

polyethylene mains installed during the time period 2006-2009. 
 
2. On an ongoing basis, any identified Class 1 below-grade leak found 

on polyethylene facilities during the annual survey of polyethylene 
mains installed during the time period 2006-2009 (“Annual Leak 
Survey”) will be repaired immediately, the cause of the leak 
identified, and an electronic message report of the leak provided to 
the Manager of Pipeline Safety within 7 days.  All Class 2 and 3 
below-grade leaks on polyethylene facilities found during the 
Annual Leak Survey will be repaired within 30 days, the cause of 
the leak identified, and an electronic message report provided to 
the Manager of Pipeline Safety within 30 days of discovery of the 
leak.  The identified cause of all leaks discovered during the Annual 
Leak Survey will be determined by Ameren Illinois Company 
Quality Assurance. 

 
3. An annual report of the findings of each Annual Leak Survey shall 

be submitted to the Manager of Pipeline Safety no later than three 
months following the completion of that Annual Leak Survey. 

 
4. All leaks on electrofusion fittings discovered during the 2011-2015 

Annual Leak Surveys will be repaired by removal, with preservation 
of the entire fitting and associated critical piping for one year, and 
the location of the repair electronically identified on the Ameren 
Illinois Company gas pipeline mapping system. 

 
5. Ameren Illinois Company and Staff will convene within two months 

following the submission to the Manager of Pipeline Safety by 
Ameren Illinois Company of the annual report following each 
Annual Leak Survey to determine if further additional and 
accelerated actions are necessary based on the results of the 
Annual Leak Survey. 

 
6. At any time, if in Staff’s view further additional and accelerated 

actions are necessary, Staff will file a Motion with the Commission 
identifying its concerns and asking the Commission to reopen this 
docket to determine what additional actions are necessary and to 
order their implementation. Prior to filing such motion, Staff agrees 
to identify its concerns with Ameren Illinois, and meet with Ameren 
Illinois in order to arrive at a mutually agreed resolution. The Parties 
agree a reasonable amount of time will be allowed by which a 
resolution could be reached taking into consideration the prevailing 
facts and circumstances. 
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7. Ameren Illinois Company commits to the following: 
 

a. Hire and train three additional full time Quality Assurance 
Consultants by June 30, 2011.  This staffing level is in 
addition to the two Quality Assurance Consultants currently 
in place and a third Quality Assurance Consultant that will be 
hired during the 1st quarter of 2011.  By June 30, 2011 
Ameren Illinois Company will have six full time Quality 
Assurance Consultants. 

 
b. Hire and train three full time Damage Prevention Specialists 

and implement enhanced damage prevention measures with 
a focus on “Watch & Protect” activities. 

 
c. As part of the ongoing quality assurance activities performed 

by the Quality Assurance Consultants, statistics on quality 
assessments of electrofusion related activities will be 
reported to Staff, including details of any identified non-
conformances with electrofusion procedures, on a quarterly 
basis, for two years. 

 
V. COMMISSION’S CONCLUSION 

 
The Commission finds that the terms of the settlement reached by the Parties 

and recommended by Staff are reasonable and provide for an appropriate resolution of 
these dockets.  The Commission has the legal authority to adopt a settlement proposal 
that, as in the present case, has the unanimous support of all the Parties.  See 
Business and Professional People for the Public Interest v. Illinois Commerce 
Commission, 136 Ill. 2d 192, 216-217 (1989).  Moreover, the Commission concludes 
that the terms of the settlement are adequately supported by the Direct Testimony of 
Staff witness Darin Burk.  Accordingly, the Commission approves and adopts the terms 
of the Stipulation set forth above in Section IV Settlement Terms of this Order as a final 
settlement of this docket. 

 
VI. FINDINGS AND ORDERING PARAGRAPHS 

 
The Commission, having considered the entire record herein and being fully 

advised in the premises, is of the opinion and finds that: 
 
(1) Ameren Illinois Company is engaged in the business of furnishing gas 

service to the public in the State of Illinois and is subject to the Illinois 
Pipeline Safety Act; 

 
(2) the Commission has jurisdiction over Ameren Illinois Company and the 

subject matter herein; 
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(3) the findings of fact and conclusions of law set forth in the prefatory portion 
of this Order are supported by the record herein and are hereby adopted 
as findings of fact and conclusions of law; 

 
(4) the terms of the Stipulation agreed to by the parties are reasonable and 

should be adopted; 
 
(5) Ameren Illinois Company does not admit that use of the simulation 

process for requalification violates 49 CFR § 192.285; 
 
(6) Ameren Illinois Company has revised the requalification process to assure 

compliance with 49 CFR § 192.285; 
 
(7) Ameren Illinois Company has agreed to a process to address concerns 

about the potential for failure of improperly joined polyethylene pipe by 
electrofusion; 

 
(8) in light of all of the circumstances, a penalty of Six Hundred Thousand 

(“$600,000.00”) Dollars is warranted under 220 ILCS 20/7; 
 
(9) Ameren Illinois Company should take the actions set forth in the attached 

Stipulation. 
 
IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED by the Illinois Commerce Commission that the 

attached Stipulation is adopted by the Commission.  
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Ameren Illinois Company shall pay a penalty of 
Six Hundred Thousand ($600,000) Dollars and shall comply with the terms of the 
attached Stipulation. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that if further additional and accelerated actions are 

necessary, Staff shall file a Motion with the Commission identifying its concerns and 
asking the Commission to reopen this docket to determine what additional actions are 
necessary and to order their implementation. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, subject to the provisions of Section 10-113 of 

the Public Utilities Act and 83 Ill. Adm. Code 200.880, this Order is final; it is not 
subject to the Administrative Review Law. 

 
 By order of the Commission this 9th day of February, 2011. 
 
 
 
 (SIGNED) MANUEL FLORES 
 
 Acting Chairman 


